
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




 


1. Call to order 
2. Roll call and verification of quorum 
3. Certification and compliance with open meetings law 
4. Public comment 
5. Communications 
6. Approval of September 11, 2023 minutes 
7. Review the public record, planning documents and the resolutions passed by the Plan 


Commission and Stoughton City Council 
8. Consideration of Resolution Approving an Amended Project Plan and Boundaries for Tax 


Incremental District No. 6. 
9. Update regarding potential Tax Incremental District No. 10 – Downtown Overlay 
10. Adjourn 
 


     Any person wishing to attend the meeting, whom because of a disability, requires special 
accommodation, should contact the Director of Finance’s office at (608) 873-6691 at least 24 hours before 
the scheduled meeting time so appropriate arrangements can be made.  
     In addition, any person wishing to speak or have their comments heard but does not have access to the 
internet should also contact the Director of Finance’s office at the number above at least 24 hours before 
the scheduled meeting so appropriate arrangements can be made.  


 
NOTE:  AN EXPANDED MEETING MAY CONSTITUTE A QUORUM OF THE COUNCIL 


 
OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA  


Notice is hereby given that the Joint Review Board of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin will hold a 
regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below. 


 


 


Meeting of the: 


Date & time: 


 
Joint Review Board of the City of Stoughton 
Monday, October 16, 2023 at 2:00 p.m. 
 
The meeting of the Joint Review Board will be conducted as a hybrid meeting 
In person:  City Hall conference room (207 S. Forrest St.) 
Virtual:  You can attend the meeting from your computer, tablet, or smartphone via Zoom 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86282534407?pwd=TnRNZ1I4UUhGVGRZMldKL1IvS0hhZz09 
Meeting ID: 862 8253 4407 Passcode: 473450 
One tap mobile +19292056099,,86282534407#,,,,*473450# US (New York)  
Members:   Sarah Ebert (public member), Adam Gallagher (Dane County), Dan Keyser (Stoughton Area 
School District), Sylvia Ramirez (Madison Area Technical College), and Tim Swadley (Mayor, City of 
Stoughton) 


  








StoughtonCourierHub.com       October 5, 2023    Stoughton Courier Hub   11
Legals


CITY OF STOUGHTON
NOTICE TO ELECTORS RELATING 


TO BOND ISSUES
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, that 


on September 26, 2023, at a meeting 
of the Common Council of the City of 
Stoughton, the following resolutions 
were adopted and recorded pursuant 
to Section 67.05(1), Wisconsin Stat-
utes:


INITIAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZ-
ING $465,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS FOR EQUIPMENT OF THE 
FIRE DEPARTMENT


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common 
Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane 
County, Wisconsin, that there shall be 
issued, pursuant to Chapter 67, Wis-
consin Statutes, general obligation 
bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$465,000 for the public purpose of 
paying the cost of equipment of the 
fire department.


INITIAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZ-
ING


$50,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS FOR LIBRARY PROJECTS


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common 
Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane 
County, Wisconsin, that there shall be 
issued, pursuant to Chapter 67, Wis-
consin Statutes, general obligation 
bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$50,000 for the public purpose of pay-
ing the cost of library projects.


INITIAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZ-
ING $980,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS FOR PARKS AND PUBLIC 
GROUNDS PROJECTS


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common 
Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane 
County, Wisconsin, that there shall be 
issued, pursuant to Chapter 67, Wis-
consin Statutes, general obligation 
bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$980,000 for the public purpose of 
paying the cost of parks and public 
grounds projects.


INITIAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZ-
ING $990,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS FOR SEWERAGE PROJECTS


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common 
Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane 
County, Wisconsin, that there shall be 
issued, pursuant to Chapter 67, Wis-
consin Statutes, general obligation 
bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$990,000 for the public purpose of 
paying the cost of sewerage projects 
consisting of storm sewer projects.


INITIAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZ-
ING $3,820,000 GENERAL OBLIGA-
TION BONDS FOR STREET IMPROVE-
MENT PROJECTS


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common 
Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane 
County, Wisconsin, that there shall be 
issued, pursuant to Chapter 67, Wis-
consin Statutes, general obligation 
bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$3,820,000 for the public purpose of 
paying the cost of street improvement 
projects.


The Wisconsin Statutes (s. 67.05(7)
(b)) provide that initial resolutions 
need not be submitted to the electors 
unless within 30 days after adoption 
of the initial resolutions a petition is 
filed in the City Clerk’s office request-
ing a referendum.  This petition must 
be signed by electors numbering at 
least 10% of the votes cast for gov-
ernor in the City at the last general 
election.  A petition may be filed with 
respect to any one or more of the ini-
tial resolutions.


City of Stoughton
Candee J. Christen
City Clerk
WNAXLP


****
Meeting of COMMON COUNCIL OF 


THE CITY OF STOUGHTON  
Date//Time: Tuesday, Sep-


tember 12, 2023 at 7:00 p.m.
Location: The meeting of the Com-


mon Council will be conducted as a 
hybrid meeting.


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Pat-
rick Butler, Phil Caravello, Ben Heili, 
Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Jean 
Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Daniel Payton, 
Lisa Reeves, Jonathan Schroerlucke, 


Brett Schumacher and Christina 
Wozniak Scanlon 


CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Swadley called the meeting 


to order at 7:06 p.m.
Roll Call 
Clerk Christen called the roll and 


noted that 10 alders were present. 
Alder Heili would join at 7:35 p.m., 
Alder Majewski was absent and 
excused. 


Certification of compliance with 
open meetings law


Mayor Swadley noted the meeting 
had been properly posted.


Public Comment Period:
None
Communications and Presenta-


tions:
• Mayor Swadley informed Coun-


cil the he was part of active discus-
sions with the Mandt Park/Stoughton 
Fair Board, if there are any questions 
please reach out to Mayor Swadley or 
Director Glynn,


• Green and Resilient Retrofit 
Program (GRRP) grant application – 
Stoughton Housing Authority – Direc-
tor Ehlinger noted that Crown Court  
Properties have applied for the grant, 
it would be an additional $0.5 million 
to be awarded for items such as solar 
panels, new insulation and geother-
mal measures.


• Accrued sick leave credit for 
retiring employees policy / surviving 
spouse policy – Ehlinger noted that 
the Council had approved in 2021 for 
130 days for general employees (1040 
hours) and sworn officers get an addi-
tional amount for any hours over 1250  
at 50%  for accrued sick leave.


• Power House Building memo 
08-23-2023 – Ehlinger explained the 
memo and how monies approved for 
the Power House had been approved.  
President Hirsch asked how the Coun-
cil could ensure that money set aside 
by the council for projects be moved 
forward for projects.  Ehlinger plans 
to have a policy in place by the end of 
2023 that would follow the statutes to 
set aside funds.


• Debt issue 2023A presale spread-
sheets 09-06-2023 – Ehlinger noted 
that it appears that debt will be $6.3 
million and that he is waiting for the 
resolution from Quarles & Brady. 
Finance did not take any action as 
they were waiting for the language on 
the bond resolution.


Consent Agenda:
A.  Council Minutes – August 22, 


2023       
B .   Commit tee  Minutes  and 


Reports:  Public Works (7/20/23); Food 
Pantry (8/16/23), CIP (8/18/23);  
Finance (8/8/23); Personnel (03-06-23; 
05-03-23; 06-05-23)       


C.  R-134-2023 Approve outdoor 
consumption permit – Working Title 
LLC dba Water St Tavern     


 D.  R-135-2023 Approve temporary 
class B wine retailers license and spe-
cial event license for Stoughton  
Wine Walk


Motion by Jenson, second by 
Hirsch to approve the consent agen-
da.  Motion carried 10-0.


 OLD BUSINESS    
Reconsideration of R-128-2023 


Amend 2023 adopted budget for clo-
sure of Fund 412 Equipment Replace-
ment No action necessary


Reconsideration of R-129-2023 
Amend 2023 adopted budget for clo-
sure of Fund 411 Building Mainte-
nance


No action necessary
  R-130-2023 Repeal of city policy 


for Scheduled Building Maintenance 
Fund


 Motion by Schumacher, second by 
Payton to approve R-130-2023. Motion 
carried 10-0


 O-26-2023 Amend zoning classifi-
cation of Certified Survey Map (CSM) 
Lots 1,2,3 and Outlot 1 at the south-
east corner of US Hwy 51 and County 
Hwy B.


 Motion by Caravello, second by 
Schumacher to approve O-26-2023. 
Motion carried 10-0.


  O-27-2023 Planned development 
– general development plan for 211 S 
Water St 


 Motion by Caravello, second by 
Payton to approve O-27-2023. Motion 
carried 10-0.


 O-28-2023 Amend zoning classifi-
cation at 2605 Cromwell Court and the 
rear portion of 2500 Jackson St.


 Motion by Caravello, second by 
Butler to approve O-28-2023. Motion 
carried 9-1. (Caravello voting no)


 NEW BUSINESS
R-136 -2023  Cond i t iona l  use 


request for 2605 Cromwell Court to 
allow multiple principal buildings on a 
lot and more than 12 residential units 
per building.  


Motion by Caravello, second Pay-
ton to approve R-136-2023.  Motion 
carried 11-0.


R-137-2023 Certified survey map 
for property at 2605 Cromwell Court 
(Lot 27) and the rear portion of 2500 
Jackson Street (Lot 15), Kettle Park 
West.  


Motion by Caravello, second by 
Jenson to approve R-137-2023. Motion 
carried 11-0.


R-138-2023 Conditionally approv-
ing a Certified Survey Map of certain 
lands owned by STI Holdings, Inc. 


 Motion by Caravello, second by 
Wozniak Scanlon to approve R-138-
2023. Motion carried 11-0. 


 ADJOURNMENT
Motion by Jenson, second by Car-


avello to adjourn the meeting.  Motion 
carried 11-0.  8:15 p.m.


 Respectfully submitted,
Candee Christen, City Clerk
WNAXLP


****
NOTICE OF JOINT REVIEW BOARD 


MEETING
CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN
Notice is Hereby Given that the 


City of Stoughton will hold a Joint 
Review Board meeting on October 16, 
2023, at 2:00 PM.


The meeting will be held at the 
Stoughton City Hall, located at 207 S. 
Forrest Street. 


You may also attend the meeting 
remotely, if you prefer, using the fol-
lowing information:


Join Zoom Meeting
https://us06web.zoom.us/


j/86282534407?pwd=TnRNZ1I4UUh-
GVGRZMldKL1IvS0hhZz09


Meeting ID: 862 8253 4407
Passcode: 473450
The meeting is being held to 


consider approval of the resolution 
adopted by the Stoughton City Coun-
cil amending Tax Incremental District  
No. 6. The meeting is open to the pub-
lic.


By Order of the City of Stoughton, 
Wisconsin


Published October 5, 2023
WNAXLP


****
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
DUNKIRK DAM LAKE DISTRICT
Wed Oct 18, 2023
6:30pm-7:30pm Dunkirk Town Hall
AGENDA
    Approval of Minutes
    Treasurer’s Report & Audit
Old Business:
    Dunkirk & County Updates
    Safety Comm (fence & signage)
    Yahara Park
 New Business:
    Lyon’s Park Development
    2024 Proposed Budget
    DDLD By The Numbers
    Election of Officers
DDLD BUDGET
2022 Bdgtd / 2022 Actual / 2023 


Prpsd
Revenues:
Tax Levy/Lttry Credit: 39,677 / 


39,677 / 10,760
Spec Dist Aid: 7200 / 7246 / 7200
Interest: 40 / 45 / 40
REV TOTALS: 43,917 / 46,968 / 


18,000
Expenditures:
Admin, Pstg: 1300 / 638 / 1000
Mntnce, Lawn: 4132 / 1250 / 3000
Insurance: 2000 / 1779 / 2000
Debt Pymnt Dam Loan: 34,485 / 


34,485 / 0
Rsrv Fndng: 2000 / 8816 / 12,000
EXP TOTALS: 43,917 / 46,968 / 


18,000
WNAXLP


****


ALL SEASON SELF STOR-
AGE- 10x10 10x20 10x25 
10x30 Security Cameras & 


Lights-24/7 access OREGON/
BROOKLYN CALL 608-444-


2900


NORTH PARK STORAGE- 
10x10 through 10x40, plus 
14x40 with 14' door for RV 


& Boats. Come & go as you 
please. 


608-873-5088


RASCHEIN PROPERTY 
STORAGE- 6x10 thru 10x25 
Market Street/Burr Oak Street 
in Oregon Call 608-520-0240


UNION ROAD STORAGE- 
10x10 - 10x15 - 10x20 - 12x30 
608-225-8064 • 608-835-0082 
1128 Union Road, Oregon, WI 
selfstorage@charter.net www.


unionroadstorage.com


RENT SKID LOAD-
ERS- MINI-EXCAVATORS,  
TELE-HANDLER and these 


attachments. Concrete breaker, 
posthole auger, landscape rake, 


concrete bucket, pallet forks, 
trencher, rock hound, broom, 


teleboom, stump grinder.  
By the day, week, or month. 


Carter & Gruenewald Co.  
4417 Hwy 92, Brooklyn, WI  


608-455-2411.


WE BUY JUNK CARS AND 
TRUCKS- We sell used 


parts. Monday thru Friday 
8am-5:30pm.  Newville Auto 


Salvage 
279 Hwy 59 Edgerton 608-884-


3114


Apartments
GREENWOOD APARTMENTS- 


Apartments for Seniors 55+,  
currently has 1 & 2 bedroom 


units available starting at $950 
per month, includes heat, water, 
and sewer. 608-835-6717 Locat-


ed at:  
139 Wolf St., Oregon, WI 53575.


ROSEWOOD APARTMENTS 
FOR SENIORS- 55+. 1 & 2 


bedroom units available starting 
at $950 per month. Includes  


heat, water and sewer. Profes-
sionally managed. Located at  


300 Silverado Drive, Stoughton, 
WI 53589. 608-877-9388.


Business 
Opportunity 


REMINERALIZE YOUR SOIL, 
PASTURES, AND ANIMALS 
WITH SEA OCEAN MINER-
ALS- Dealers wanted. Stop in 
or send phone number. Natural 
Ag Solutions, 1437 Crosscut 
Rd. Platteville, WI 53818.


Farmers Market
WANTED LARGE SQUARES 
OF ALFALFA OR ALFALFA 
GRASS MIX HAY- 641-208-
0488.


For sale
FOR SALE 35’ EXCEL 5TH 
WHEEL CAMPER- Stored in-
side when not in use. 608-732-
6298.


LOT #1 14X70 - MARSH-
FIELD- 3 bedroom, 1 bath, 
$34,500. LOT #5 16x80 - 
Dutch 2 bedroom, 2 bath, 
$49,500. LOT #314 14x70 
- Rollo 2 bedroom, 1 bath, 
$34,500. Located Evergreen 
Village Mobile Home Park. 
30972 County Road XX, Plat-
teville, WI 53818. Park will 
finance.  Call manager Mary 
Lou Parsons 608-642-3901.


Holiday Sale
“IT’S ALL ABOUT HAL-
LOWEEN” SALE- 275 Taylor 
Lane, Stoughton. Friday Oct. 6 
2pm-6pm, Sat., Oct. 7,  9am-
4pm. Sun., Oct. 8 10am-4pm. 
500+ new and used costumes! 
Plus accessories, decora-
tions, American girl costumes, 
Scentsy and anything else to 
do with Halloween!


Livestock
FOR SALE: TWO YEAR OLD 
REGISTERED BLACK AN-
GUS BULL- Mike McNett, 
Cuba City. 608-770-3695 or 
608-436-6325.


Pets
ACA WEST HIGHLAND TER-
RIER- Female, 6 months old, 
shots, dewormed, vet checked. 
Happy and friendly. $450. 608-
943-6075.


AKC STANDARD POODLES-  
Ready to go now. Price starting 
at $800 each. 608-732-2543.


BOSTON TERRIER PUP-
PIES FOR SALE- Two males 
1 brindle and 1 blue merle. 1 
brindle female. vaccinated and 
wormed, Ready to go. $200 
each. 20269 Cty Z Darlington, 
WI 53530.


CAVAPOOS, BERNEDOO-
DLES, COCKAPOOS, 
MINI - GOLDENDOODLES 
COMING, SHIPOO TED-
DYS- All Hypoallergenic, UTD 
shots/deworm, 2 yr Warr, Lic# 
484991 We train!  Brenda 608-
574-7931 Or Dusty 920-210-
7441 Www.SpringGreenPups.
com


TEN MONTH OLD 3 ROT-
TWEILER- males AKC Regis-
tered. Good farm dogs or pets. 
$50. 608-943-8082.


Services
ESTATE SALE, TRUCK, 
TRACTOR, BOAT, CYCLE & 
MORE-  wisconsinliquidators.
com We’ll help you sell too! 
(608) 669-7879.


CARPET INSTALLATION 
AND REPAIRS- 35 years ex-
perience. Free estimate. (608) 
213-8608.


DO YOU NEED TO HIRE A 
PRIVATE DETECTIVE?- We 
specialize in finding people but 
we also specialize in finding 
the truth. Joy Hammer Private 
Detective Agency 608-712-
6286


Sporting Goods
WANTED: FISHING GEAR - 
tackle and rods-. Paying fair! 
Text/call 608-224-1197.


Wanted
WANTED CONSIGNERS FOR 
THE ANNUAL PAPA ALLI-
ANCE BLACK HIDED CALF 
AND YEARLING SALE- Sales 
held at Bloomington Livestock 
Exchange. Sale dates are No-
vember 3rd, December 1st and 
January 12th. Never before 
has there been a better market 
for your cattle. Take advantage 
of these high profile sales for 
best results. No Dairy. For in-
formation contact Greg May 
608-574-0719 or B.L.E. 608-
994-2020.


WANTED: NI #325 PICKER 
SHELLER- 608-943-6142.


Wanted to Buy
WANTED: HORSES AND PO-
NIES- Western store available, 
www.yodersranchwear.com. 
608-341-8144.


Statewide 
Classified 
Network


ELIMINATE GUTTER 
CLEANING FOREVER!- Leaf-
Filter, the most advanced de-
bris-blocking gutter protection. 
Schedule a FREE LeafFilter 
estimate today. 20% off Entire 
Purchase. Plus 10% Senior & 
Military Discounts. Call 1-855-
948-3442


REPLACE YOUR ROOF- with 
the best looking and longest 
lasting material ? steel from 
Erie Metal Roofs! Three styles 
and multiple colors available. 
Guaranteed to last a lifetime! 
Limited Time Offer ? up to 
50% off installation + Addition-
al 10% off install (for military, 
health workers & 1st respond-
ers.) Call Erie Metal Roofs: 
1-855-619-2373


THE BATHROOM OF YOUR 
DREAMS FOR AS LITTLE 
AS $149/MONTH!- BCI Bath 
& Shower. Many options avail-
able. Quality materials & pro-
fessional installation. Senior 
& Military Discounts Available. 
Limited Time Offer - FREE vir-
tual in-home consultation now 
and SAVE 15%! Call Today! 
1-855-659-0649


p r e s e n t e d b y


Ryan Olson, Red Sky 
Insurance Advisors


(608) 444-5085


l o c a t i o n


r s v p t o


Quartz Medicare Advantage (HMO) is an HMO plan with a Medicare contract. 
Enrollment in this plan depends on contract renewal. For accommodation of persons 
with special needs at meetings, call (800) 394-5566 (TTY: 711). Other pharmacies/
physicians/providers are available in our network. We do not offer every plan available 
in your area. Any information we provide is limited to those plans we do offer in your 
area. Currently, our agency represents 9 organizations, which offer 0-39 products in 
your area. You may contact Medicare.gov, 1-800-MEDICARE, or your local State Health 
Insurance Program (SHIP) to get information on all of your options.  
GH00908UW_0923   H5262_23 252a_M


Have Medicare questions?
Get answers from a local insurance 
agent at a free informational seminar  
on Saturday, October 7, at 10 a.m. and 6 p.m.


Country Inn & Suites Madison  
400 River Place  
Monona, WI 53716


OMGHired.com/DaneCounty


GET HIRED! Find the Perfect Local Job.


M I N N E S O T A


W I S C O N S I N


F O N D  d u  L A C


T R I - C O U N T Y


D A N E  C O U N T Y


V E R M O N T


A R I Z O N A


N E W  M E X I C O


D E L M A R V A


Powered by



dehlinger

Highlight



dehlinger

Highlight



dehlinger

Highlight

















T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2023\Plan Com Minutes  091123-rjs.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Monday, September 11, 2023 at 6:00 pm 
Hybrid Meeting 


 
Members Present:  Mayor Swadley, Chair; Brett Schumacher; Dorann Bradford; Tom 
Robinson; Phil Caravello and Al Farrow 
Members Absent: Tom Majewski 
Staff:  Director of Planning & Development, Rodney Scheel; Zoning Administrator 
Guests: Daniele Thompson; Gary Becker; Katrina Becker; Tyler Denig; Bruce Hollar; Jerod 
Bennet; Anwar Zaidi; Charles Elliott, David West; Ombeni Pallangyo; Ron Klaas; David Ferris; 
Steve Tremlett 
 
1. Call to Order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:04 pm. 


 
2. Roll call and verification of quorum.  Mayor Swadley verified a quorum is present. 


 
3. Certification and compliance with open meetings law.  Mayor Swadley certified 


compliance with open meetings law. 
 


4. Plan Commission meeting minutes of August 14, 2023.   
Motion by Bradford to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Schumacher.  Motion 
carried unanimously.  
 


5. Council Representative Report. 
Mayor Swadley identified items that are scheduled to be at the next Council meeting. 
 


6. Status of Current Developments.   
Scheel introduced the status of developments as outlined in the packet of materials.  There 
were no questions. 
 


7. TID No. 6 Project Plan & Territory Amendment. 
David Ferris gave an overview of the project plan. 
 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
No one registered to speak. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Bradford to recommend Common Council approval of the TID No. 6 Project 
Plan & Territory Amendment Resolution as presented, 2nd by Schumacher.    
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
9/11/23 
Page 2 of 4 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2023\Plan Com Minutes  091123-rjs.docx 


 


8. Certified Survey Map (CSM) for property at the southeast corner of US Highway 51 
and County Highway B for STI Holdings. 
Mayor Swadley introduced the CSM request.  Scheel gave an overview of the resolution and 
highlighted the condition related to the right-of-way width for Greenbriar Drive.   
 
Steve Tremlett of MSA explained their rationale for the 90-foot right-of-way width proposed 
on the CSM versus 100 feet.  Greenbriar is considered a collector street.  City ordinances 
identifies 80-feet as the normal right-of-way width for collector streets.  The amended 
Comprehensive Plan identifies Greenbriar Drive for a 100-foot dedication.  Mr. Tremlett 
indicated the proposed 90-foot right-of-way dedication will include an off-street 10-foot 
shared-use path on the north side of Greenbriar with a 13-15 foot terrace and a 5-foot 
sidewalk on the south side of Greenbriar with an 8-foot terrace. 
 
Motion by Farrow to recommend Common Council approval of the CSM resolution with a 
change to resolution item #3 to allow the 90 foot right-of-way for Greenbriar Drive (not to 
require 100 feet), 2nd by Bradford.    
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


9. Preliminary Condominium Plat for Lot 6 at 51 West Subdivision.   
Commissioner Caravello and City Attorney Matt Dregne arrived. 
 
Scheel provided an overview of the condo plat. 
 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
Charles Elliott spoke on behalf of the development in favor of the plat and is available for 
questions. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend Common Council approval of the Preliminary Plat 
Resolution as presented, 2nd by Bradford.    
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


10. Final Plat for 839-981 N. Page Street.   
 
Scheel provided an overview of the final plat.  
 
Motion by Bradford to recommend Common Council approval of the Final Plat Resolution 
as presented, 2nd by Caravello.    
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
9/11/23 
Page 3 of 4 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2023\Plan Com Minutes  091123-rjs.docx 


 


11. Final Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision.   
Scheel provided an overview of the request for this application. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend Common Council approval of the Final Plat 
Resolution as presented, 2nd by Farrow.    
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


12. Specific Implementation Plan for Lots 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision.   
Scheel provided an overview of the SIP materials. 
 
Motion by Bradford to approve the site plan as presented, 2nd by Farrow.   
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


13. Conditional Use for an Indoor Commercial Entertainment use (restaurant/tavern) at 
210 Water Street.   
Scheel explained the request. 
 
Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 
 
Mary Condon, 214 W. Washington Street, spoke and presented information about the past 
uses and issues related to noise from this location affecting nearby residents.  When they 
bought, their house that is located across the river from this location, the subject property was 
an ice cream parlor.  It was subsequently converted to a bar with live music.  The neighbors 
worked with the owners as well as the City related to noise issues.  Requirements were put in 
place to require all windows and doors be closed by 11:00 pm and to not allow use of the 
deck after 11:00 pm. 
 
The applicant, Mr. Pallangyo, spoke about wanting to be a good neighbor and not create 
noise complaints.  He wants to create a quiet vibe location with no karaoke or amplified 
music.  He understands the need to maintain a location that doesn’t create problems for the 
City and the neighbors.  He is supportive of conditions to control noise. 
 
The commission discussed amplified music with the city attorney who indicated that 
amplified music is amplified by electronic means, and would not include, for example, an 
acoustic guitar that is not amplified by electronic means. 
 
Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to recommend Common Council approval of the CUP Resolution 
with these additional conditions:  


 No amplified music allowed indoors or outdoors; 
 Windows and doors to be closed and no outdoor patrons or activities after 11:00 


pm nightly. 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
9/11/23 
Page 4 of 4 
 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2023\Plan Com Minutes  091123-rjs.docx 


 


 
2nd by Caravello.    
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 


14. Land Division at 1450 Pleasant Hill Road, Town of Dunkirk. 
Scheel explained the request is to separate the agricultural land from the buildings and the 
site is located at the outer limits of the City’s extra-territorial jurisdiction. 
 
Motion by Caravello to recommend Common Council approval of the ETJ Land Division as 
presented, 2nd by Bradford.   Motion carried unanimously. 
  


15. Future agenda items. 
Final plat for Lot 6 at 51 West Subdivision. 
Proposed ordinance amendment for in-vehicle sales and service. 
 


16. Adjournment. 
Motion by Caravello to adjourn at 7:10 pm, 2nd by Schumacher.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Rodney Scheel 








City of Stoughton, Wisconsin TID 6 Amendment     City Council Resolution 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Resolution approving an amendment to the project plan and boundaries of Tax Incremental 
District No. 6 


Committee 
Action: 


Plan Commission recommended approval 5-0 on 09/11/2023 
Joint Review Board considering approval on 10/16/2023


Fiscal Impact:   Increased tax base for 2023 - $1.7 million 


File Number: R-146-2023 Date: 09/26/23 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


RECITALS: 


WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental 
Financing is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and 


WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 6 (the “District”) was created by the City on September 
29, 2015; as an industrial district; and 


WHEREAS, the City now desires to amend the Project Plan and boundaries of the District (the 
“Amendment”) in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (the "Tax 
Increment Law"); and 


WHEREAS, such Amendment will: 
a. Add territory from the District as permitted under Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(h)2.
b. Amend the categories, locations, or costs of project costs to be made as permitted under


Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(h)1.


WHEREAS, an amended Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes: 


a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or
improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes Sections
66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District;


b. An economic feasibility study;
c. A detailed list of estimated project costs;
d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time when the


related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred;
e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District;
f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District;
g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City ordinances;
h. A list of estimated non-project costs;
i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced;
j. A statement indicating how the amendment of the District promotes the orderly development


of the City;
k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the Project


Plan is complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f).; and







 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin TID 6 Amendment     City Council Resolution 


WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the chief 
executive officers of Dane County, the Stoughton Area School District, and the Madison Area Technical 
College District, and any other entities having the power to levy taxes on property located within the 
District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law; and 


 
WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was also sent to the to 


owners of all property located within the territory proposed to be added to the District; and 
 


WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the Plan 
Commission, on September 11, 2023 held a public hearing concerning the proposed amendment to the 
Project Plan and boundaries of the District, providing interested parties a reasonable opportunity to express 
their views thereon; and 
 


WHEREAS, after said public hearing, the Plan Commission designated the boundaries of the 
amended district, adopted the Project Plan, and recommended to the City Council that it amend the Project 
Plan and boundaries for the District. 
 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Stoughton that: 
 


1. The boundaries of the District named "Tax Incremental District No. 6, City of Stoughton", 
are hereby amended as identified in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 


 
2. The territory being added shall become part of the District effective as of January 1, 2023. 
 
4. The City Council finds and declares that: 


 
(a) Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District, as amended, is 


suitable for industrial sites within the meaning of Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1101 
and has been zoned for industrial use. 


 
(b) Based upon the finding stated in 3.a. above, the District was declared to be, and 


remains, an industrial district based on the identification and classification of the 
property included within the District. 


 
(c) The improvement of such area is likely to enhance significantly the value of 


substantially all of the other real property in the District.   


(d) The equalized value of the taxable property within the territory to be added to the 
District plus the value increment of all other existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, does not exceed 12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within 
the City. 


(e) That for those parcels to be added to the District that were annexed by the City within 
the three-year period preceding adoption of this Resolution, the City pledges to pay the 
Town of Pleasant Springs an amount equal to the property taxes the town last levied 
on the territory for each of the next five years. 


 
(f) The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will be devoted 


to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum expenditure period, pursuant to 
Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(5)(b).     


 
(g) The project costs relate directly to promoting industrial development in the District 


consistent with the purpose for which the District is created.   
 











 


 


EXHIBIT A - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


LEGAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION  
OR  


MAP OF  
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT  NO. 6 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 
 
 
 


[INCLUDED WITHIN PROJECT PLAN] 







 


 


EXHIBIT B - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


[DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY] 
 
 
 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
  
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
  
                                             
Mayor Tim Swadley    Date 
 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       















 


        
 
September 11, 2023 


 


PROJECT PLAN AMENDMENT 
 


 City of Stoughton, Wisconsin 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Territory Amendment – Business Park North 
 


 
 


Prepared by: 


Ehlers  


N21W23350 Ridgeview Parkway West, 


Suite 100 


Waukesha, WI 53188 


 


BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO. 
 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers   Page | 2 


KEY DATES 
Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: September 11, 2023 


Public Hearing Held: September 11, 2023 


Approval by Plan Commission: September 11, 2023 


Adoption by Common Council: September 26, 2023 


Approval by the Joint Review Board: October 16, 2023 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 3 


Preliminary Map of Original District Boundary and Territory to be Added.......................... 6 


Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions Within the Territory to be Added ................ 8 


Preliminary Identification of Parcels to be Added .......................................................................... 11 


Equalized Value Test ................................................................................................................................... 12 


Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or 
Improvements Within the District ......................................................................................................... 13 


Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses Within the Territory to be Added .... 19 


Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs ...........................................................................................24 


Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated 
Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be 
Incurred ............................................................................................................................................................ 25 


Annexed Property ....................................................................................................................................... 32 


Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business ............................................................. 32 


Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City 
Ordinances ...................................................................................................................................................... 32 


Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of any Persons to be Displaced
 ............................................................................................................................................................................. 33 


How Amendment of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development 
of the City ....................................................................................................................................................... 33 


List of Estimated Non-Project Costs .................................................................................................. 34 


Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(f) ................................................................................................................................................... 35 


Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the 
Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions ........................................................36 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 
 


SECTION 1: 
Executive Summary 


DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 6 (“District”) was originally created as a 
35.823 - acre Industrial District on September 29, 2015. The District was created 
to: 


• Provide additional land in the City suitable for industrial and light 
industrial business development 


• Create approximately 80 – 100 new jobs. 


The District has not been amended previously 


Purpose of Amendment 
The purpose of this amendment, referred to hereafter as the Plan, the 
Amendment, or the Plan Amendment, is to: 


• Add territory to the District as permitted under Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(h)2. This is the first of four permitted territory amendments 
available to the District. The amendment adds 19.813 acres to the north 
of the existing District. This is the site of the new Emmi Roth 
headquarters.  


• Amend the categories, locations or costs of project costs to be made as 
permitted under Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(h)1. (“Project”). 


• Continue the growth of employment opportunities in City of 
Stoughton’s Business Park North. 


 Estimated Total Project Cost Expenditures 


The City anticipates making total expenditures of approximately $4,230,500 
(“Project Costs”) to undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). 
Project Costs include an estimated $3,500,000 in development incentives 
contemplated for a future phase of development. 


Incremental Valuation 
The City projects that new land and improvements value of approximately 
$29,266,800 will result from the Project. Creation of this additional value will 
be made possible by the Project Costs made within the District. A table 
detailing assumptions as to the development timing and associated values is 
included in the Economic Feasibility Study located within this Plan. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 
 


Expected Termination of District   
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study located within Section 9 of this Plan, 
the City anticipates that the District will generate sufficient tax increment to 
pay all Project Costs within its allowable 20 years. 


Summary of Findings 
As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the 
exhibits contained and referenced herein, the following findings are made: 


1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to 
occur as detailed in this Plan: 1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in 
the manner, at the values, or within the timeframe desired by the City. In 
reaching this determination, the City has considered: 


That “but for” the amendment of the District’s Project Plan, the economic 
development objectives of the District will not be achieved.  Based upon the 
cash flow of the District, prior to the amendment, the District is showing that 
it is underperforming and would close with a large deficit. However, with 
projected new value that would be created from the territory amendment, 
the District would recover and close successfully.   


2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased 
employment, business and personal income, and property value, are 
sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. In making this 
determination, the City has considered the following information: 


The expectation that the Project will employ additional workers once the 
Project is fully operational. 


That the Developer is likely to purchase goods and services from local 
suppliers in construction of the Project, and induced effects of employee 
households spending locally for goods and services from retailers, 
restaurants and service companies. 


3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to 
be paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a calculation of the share of 
projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in this 
Plan. However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax 
incremental financing, these tax increments would not be paid but for 
creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the benefits 
expected to be realized as set forth in this Plan outweigh the value of the 
tax increments to be invested in the Project.   







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 
 


4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District, as 
amended, is suitable for industrial sites as defined by Wis. Stat. § 66.1101 and 
has been zoned for industrial use. Any real property within the District that 
was found suitable for industrial sites and was zoned for industrial use at the 
time of creation of the District or at the time of this Plan Amendment will 
remain zoned for industrial use for the life of the District. 


5. Based on the foregoing finding, the District remains designated as an 
industrial district.  


6. That Project Costs relate directly to promoting industrial development in the 
District, consistent with the purpose for which the District is created.  


7. Improvements to be made in the District are likely to significantly enhance 
the value of substantially all of the other real property in the District.   


8. The equalized value of taxable property within the territory to be added to 
the District, plus the incremental value of all existing tax incremental districts 
within the City does not exceed 12% of the total equalized value of taxable 
property within the City.     


9. The Plan for the District is feasible and is in conformity with the Master Plan 
of the City.  


10. The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will 
be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum 
expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b).  


11. That for those parcels to be included within the District that were annexed 
by the City within the three-year period preceding adoption of this 
Resolution, the City pledges to pay the Town of Pleasant Springs an amount 
equal to the property taxes the town last levied on the territory for each of 
the next five years.  


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 
 


SECTION 2: 


Preliminary Map of Original District Boundary and 
Territory to be Added 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers   Page | 7 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 


SECTION 3: 


Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions Within the 
Territory to be Added 


Map Found on Following Page.







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 
 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 


SECTION 4: 
Preliminary Identification of Parcels to be Added 


 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Base Property Information


Comments


Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage


Annexed 
Post 


1/1/04?   
...Indicate 


date


Part of Existing 
TID?    …Indicate 


TID #


Land Imp Total


Equalized 
Value 
Ratio Land Imp Total


ROW Areas 1.800
061132491002 1800 WILLIAMS DRIVE EMMI ROTH USA INC 18.013 44,677.00 No 4,700 0 4,700 97.09% 4,841 0 4,841 Vacant farmland permitted for development Class 3


Total Acreage 19.813 4,700 0 4,700 4,841 0


The above values are as of January 1, 2022.   Actual base value certification of the territory will be based on January 1, 2023 assessed values. Estimated Base Value 4,841


Assessment Roll 
Classification?       


(Residential = Class 1, 
Commercial = Class 2, 


Manufacturing = Class 3, Ag = 
Class 4 , Undeveloped = Class 


5, Ag Forest = Class 5M, Forest 
= Class 6, Other = Class 7 & 


Exempt = X)


Property Information Assessment Information Equalized Value


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Amended Parcel Listing and Conditions


Property Condition


Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage Description


Original Project Plan
061132492402 1600 Williams Drive Marquis Star Holding, Inc. 10.114 Developed
061132492952 No address City of Stoughton 2.403 Stormpond
061132493652 521 Glacier Moraine Drive City of Stoughton 4.431 Vacant
061132498902 441 Glacier Moraine Drive GIP - Glacier Moraine, LLC 4.430 Developed
061132498652 431 Glacier Moraine Drive City of Stoughton 1.990 Vacant
061132498402 421 Glacier Moraine Drive American Beauty Investments, LLC 3.500 Developed
061132499252 1520 Progress Lane City of Stoughton 4.320 Stormpond


ROW Williams Drive City of Stoughton 4.635
Total Original Project Plan 35.823


Parcels Added
ROW Williams Drive City of Stoughton 1.800


61132491002 1800 Williams Drive Emmi Roth USA, Inc. 18.013 Under construction
Total Parcels Added 19.813


Total Acreage 55.636


Property Information







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 


SECTION 5: 
Equalized Value Test 


The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the 
equalized value of the taxable property proposed to be added to the District, 
plus the value increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not 
exceed 12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  


The equalized value of the increment of existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, plus the value of the territory proposed to be added to the District, 
totals $68,345,341. This value is less than the maximum of $188,135,244 in 
equalized value that is permitted for the City. 


  


District Creation Date 9/29/2015


Valuation Data
Currently Available


2023
Total EV (TID In) 1,787,763,800


12% Test 214,531,656


Increment of Existing TIDs
11,960,700


5,326,900
8,286,700


51,115,900
2,812,000
4,022,700


Total Existing Increment 83,524,900


Projected Base of Amended District 4,841


Total Value Subject to 12% Test 83,529,741


Compliance PASS


TID #9


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Valuation Test Compliance Calculation


TID #5
TID #6
TID #7
TID #8


TID #4







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 
 


SECTION 6: 
Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All 
Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the 
District 
Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary 
obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project 
Costs will be diminished by any income, special assessments or other revenues, 
including user fees or charges, other than tax increments, received or 
reasonably expected to be received in connection with the implementation of 
the Plan. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory outside the District, a 
proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this 
Plan are preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are 
subject to change after planning, design and construction is completed. 


With all Project Costs, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, 
materials, construction, restoring property to its original condition, apparatus 
necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, testing, 
environmental studies, permits, updating ordinances and plans, judgments or 
claims for damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. The map 
found in Section 7 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs 
found in Section 8 provide additional information as to the kind, number and 
location of potential Project Costs. 


The “Statement of Kind, Number and Location of Proposed Public Works and 
Other Projects” set forth in the original District Project Plan approved on 
September 29, 2015 is amended to add the following Project Costs that the City 
has made, expects to make, or may need to make, in conjunction with the 
implementation of the District’s Plan or this Plan Amendment. 


Property, Right-of-Way and Easement Acquisition 


Property Acquisition for Development 


To promote and facilitate development the City may acquire property within 
the District. The cost of property acquired, and any costs associated with the 
transaction, are eligible Project Costs. Following acquisition, other Project 
Costs within the categories detailed in this Section may be incurred to make 
the property suitable for development.  Any revenue received by the City from 
the sale of property acquired pursuant to the execution of this Plan will be used 
to reduce the total project costs of the District.  If total Project Costs incurred 
by the City to acquire property and make it suitable for development exceed 
the revenues or other consideration received from the sale or lease of that 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 
 


property, the net amount shall be considered “real property assembly costs” as 
defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.c., and subject to recovery as an eligible 
Project Cost. 


Acquisition of Rights-of-Way 


The City may need to acquire property to allow for installation of streets, 
driveways, sidewalks, utilities, stormwater management practices and other 
public infrastructure. Costs incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and 
acquire rights-of-way are eligible Project Costs. 


Acquisition of Easements 


The City may need to acquire temporary or permanent easements to allow for 
installation and maintenance of streets, driveways, sidewalks, utilities, 
stormwater management practices and other public infrastructure.  Costs 
incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and acquire easement rights are 
eligible Project Costs. 


Relocation Costs 


If relocation expenses are incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of 
property, those expenses are eligible Project Costs. These costs may include 
but are not limited to: preparation of a relocation plan; allocations of staff time; 
legal fees; publication of notices; obtaining appraisals; and payment of 
relocation benefits as required by Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code 
ADM 92. 


Site Preparation Activities 


Environmental Audits and Remediation 


If it becomes necessary to evaluate any land or improvement within the District, 
any cost incurred by the City related to environmental audits, testing, and 
remediation are eligible Project Costs. 


Demolition 


To make sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs related to 
demolition and removal of structures or other land improvements, to include 
abandonment of wells or other existing utility services. 


Site Grading 


Land within the District may require grading to make it suitable for 
development, to provide access, and to control stormwater runoff.  The City 
may need to remove and dispose of excess material, or bring in fill material to 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 
 


provide for proper site elevations. Expenses incurred by the City for site 
grading are eligible Project Costs. 


Utilities 


Sanitary Sewer System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure within the District.  Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: collection mains; manholes and cleanouts; service laterals; force 
mains; interceptor sewers; pumping stations; lift stations; wastewater treatment 
facilities; and all related appurtenances. To the extent sanitary sewer projects 
undertaken within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the 
District, the City will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those 
costs corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure located outside 
of the District. That portion of the costs of sanitary sewer system projects 
undertaken outside the District which are necessitated by the implementation 
of the Project Plan are eligible Project Costs.  


Water System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand water system infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion 
of: distribution mains; manholes and valves; hydrants; service laterals; pumping 
stations; wells; water treatment facilities; storage tanks and reservoirs; and all 
related appurtenances. To the extent water system projects undertaken within 
the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City will 
make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs corresponding 
to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and necessitated by the 
implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project Costs.  Implementation 
of the Project Plan may also require that the City construct, alter, rebuild or 
expand water system infrastructure located outside of the District.  That 
portion of the costs of water system projects undertaken outside the District 
which are necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible 
Project Costs. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 
 


Stormwater Management System Improvements 


Development within the District will cause stormwater runoff. To manage this 
stormwater runoff, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild or expand 
stormwater management infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: stormwater collection mains; inlets, manholes and valves; service 
laterals; ditches; culvert pipes; box culverts; bridges; stabilization of stream and 
river banks; and infiltration, filtration and detention Best Management Practices 
(BMP’s). To the extent stormwater management system projects undertaken 
within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City 
will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit.  Those costs 
corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs.  Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand stormwater management infrastructure 
located outside of the District. That portion of the costs of stormwater 
management system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 


Electric Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade electric services. Relocation may require abandonment and 
removal of existing poles or towers, installation of new poles or towers, or 
burying of overhead electric lines.  Costs incurred by the City to undertake this 
work are eligible Project Costs. 


Gas Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade gas mains and services. Costs incurred by the City to 
undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


Communications Infrastructure 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade infrastructure required for voice and data communications, 
including, but not limited to:  telephone lines, cable lines and fiber optic cable. 
Costs incurred by the City to undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 
 


Streets and Streetscape 


Street Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct or reconstruct 
streets, highways, alleys, access drives and parking areas. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to: excavation; removal or placement of fill;  
construction of road base; asphalt or concrete paving or repaving;  installation 
of curb and gutter; installation of sidewalks and bicycle lanes; installation of 
culverts, box culverts and bridges; rail crossings and signals; utility relocation, 
to include burying overhead utility lines; street lighting; installation of traffic 
control signage and traffic signals; pavement marking; right-of-way restoration; 
installation of retaining walls; and installation of fences, berms, and landscaping. 


Streetscaping and Landscaping 


To attract development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, the City may 
install amenities to enhance development sites, rights-of-way and other public 
spaces. These amenities include but are not limited to: landscaping; lighting of 
streets, sidewalks, parking areas and public areas; installation of planters, 
benches, clocks, tree rings, trash receptacles and similar items; and installation 
of brick or other decorative walks, terraces and street crossings. These and any 
other similar amenities installed by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Community Development 


Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  


The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or 
developers of land located within the District for sharing costs to encourage 
the desired kind of improvements and assure tax base is generated sufficient 
to recover Project Costs. No cash grants will be provided until the City executes 
a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant.  Any payments of 
cash grants made by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Miscellaneous 


Rail Spur 


To allow for development, the City may incur costs for installation of a rail spur 
or other railway improvements to serve development sites located within the 
District. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 
 


Property Tax Payments to Town 


Property tax payments due to the Town of Pleasant Springs under Wis. Stat. 
§66.1105(4)(gm)1. because of the inclusion of lands annexed after January 1, 
2004 within the boundaries of the District are an eligible Project Cost. 


Projects Outside the Tax Increment District 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.n, the City may undertake projects within 
territory located within one-half mile of the boundary of the District provided 
that: 1) the project area is located within the City’s corporate boundaries; and 
2) the projects are approved by the Joint Review Board. The cost of projects 
completed outside the District pursuant to this section are eligible project costs 
and may include any project cost that would otherwise be eligible if undertaken 
within the District. The City intends to make the following project cost 
expenditures outside the District: 


The City will install a rail spur improvement within a half-mile of the District. The 
project will benefit the TID, as well as other areas of the City. The City estimates 
that the project will cost $900,000. Of this amount, $180,000 will benefit the 
District. 


Professional Service and Organizational Costs 


The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation 
to the creation, administration and termination of the District, and the 
undertaking of the projects contained within this Plan, are eligible Project Costs. 
Professional services include but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal; audit; financial; and the costs of 
informing the public with respect to the creation of the District and the 
implementation of the Plan. 


Administrative Costs 


The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable 
allocations of administrative costs, including, but not limited to, employee 
salaries. Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the time spent by City 
employees relating to the implementation of the Plan. 


Financing Costs 


Interest expense, debt issuance expenses, redemption premiums, and any other 
fees and costs incurred in conjunction with obtaining financing for projects 
undertaken under this Plan are eligible Project Costs. 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 
 


SECTION 7: 
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses Within 
the Territory to be Added 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 
 


  







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 


SECTION 8: 
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs 


The following list identifies the Project Costs that the City has made, expects 
to make, or may need to make in conjunction with the implementation of the 
District’s Plan or this Plan Amendment. All projects identified and related costs 
reflect the best estimates available as of the date of preparation of this Plan 
Amendment. All costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. 
Certain Project Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs 
not currently identified may need to be made. (Section 6 details the general 
categories of eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or the types 
of Project Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This 
Plan is not meant to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific 
Project Costs, but a framework within which to manage Project Costs. 


 


 
 


  


Project 1/2 Mile Percentage TID Non TID
Year Projects in 1/2 Mile Amount Costs


Project ID Project Name/Type See Note 1


1 Development Grant TBD No 0% 3,500,000
2 Business Park Rail Spur Improvements 2023 - 2025 Yes 100% 180,000 720,000
3 Business Park Master Planning 2024 No NA 50,000
4 TID Administration 2024 - 2034 No NA 250,000
5 TID Planning, Creation & Amendment 2022 - 2023 No NA 50,000
6 Payment to Town of Pleasant Springs 2023 - 2028 No NA 500
7 Workforce Housing Initiatives TBD No NA 200,000


Total Projects 4,230,500 720,000


Notes:
Note 1 Project costs are estimates and are subject to modification


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Estimated Project List







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 
 


SECTION 9: 
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods 
of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When 
Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred 


This Section includes an updated forecast of the valuation increases expected 
within the District, the associated tax increment collections, a summary of how 
remaining Project Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow 
demonstrating that the District remains economically feasible. 


Key Assumptions 


The Project Costs the City plans to make are expected to create $35,169,100 
million in incremental value by 2024. Estimated valuations and timing for 
construction of the Project are included in Table 1. Assuming the City’s current 
equalized TID Interim tax rate of $16.54 per thousand of equalized value, and 
0.5% economic appreciation, the Project would generate $7,421,738 in 
incremental tax revenue over the 20-year term of the District as shown in Table 
2. 


Financing and Implementation 
Implementation of the Plan will require that a rail spur will be constructed that 
will benefit the District.  The City will finance the cost of the construction 
through the issuance of tax-exempt General Obligation Notes or Bonds with 
debt service to be paid from the tax increment generated by the Project.  Cost 
of issuance will be paid from the debt proceeds. 


Development incentives will be made on a “pay as you go” basis from tax 
increment generated from the Project. The City’s obligation to make payments 
is solely limited to the available tax increment, and the City’s debt service for 
the construction projects will enjoy priority of payment on an annual basis.  To 
the extent incremental revenues are less than projected, the full amount of the 
development incentive may not ultimately be paid. 


Based on the Project Cost expenditures as included within the cash flow exhibit 
(Table 3), the District is projected to accumulate sufficient funds by the year 
2030 to pay off all Project cost liabilities and obligations. The projected closure 
is based on the various assumptions noted in this Plan and will vary dependent 
on actual Project Costs incurred and the actual amount of tax increments 
collected. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 
 


Table 1 – Development Assumptions (Prior to Amendment) 


 


 
  


Actual
Emmi Roth 


Phase I
Annual Total


6 2020 3,191,400 3,191,400 2020 6
7 2021 994,900 994,900 2021 7
8 2022 1,716,000 1,716,000 2022 8
9 2023 0 2023 9


10 2024 0 2024 10
11 2025 0 2025 11
12 2026 0 2026 12
13 2027 0 2027 13
14 2028 0 2028 14
15 2029 0 2029 15
16 2030 0 2030 16
17 2031 0 2031 17
18 2032 0 2032 18
19 2033 0 2033 19
20 2034 0 2034 20
21 2035 0 2035 21
22 2036 0 2036 22
23 2037 0 2037 23


Totals 5,902,300 0 5,902,300


Notes:


Construction Year Construction Year


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Development Assumptions







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 27 
 


Table 1 – Development Assumptions (After Amendment) 


 


 


 


  


Actual
Emmi Roth 


Phase I
Annual Total


6 2020 3,191,400 3,191,400 2020 6
7 2021 994,900 994,900 2021 7
8 2022 1,716,000 1,716,000 2022 8
9 2023 29,266,800 29,266,800 2023 9


10 2024 0 2024 10
11 2025 0 2025 11
12 2026 0 2026 12
13 2027 0 2027 13
14 2028 0 2028 14
15 2029 0 2029 15
16 2030 0 2030 16
17 2031 0 2031 17
18 2032 0 2032 18
19 2033 0 2033 19
20 2034 0 2034 20


Totals 5,902,300 29,266,800 35,169,100


Notes:


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Development Assumptions


Construction Year Construction Year







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 
 


Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet (Prior to Amendment) 


 


 


 


  


Type of District Base Value 14,841
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2015 Base Tax Rate $20.00
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 9/29/2030
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2036


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District


Construction 
Year Value Added Valuation Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


6 2020 3,191,400 2021 0 3,191,400 2022 $20.64 65,877
7 2021 994,900 2022 0 4,186,300 2023 $18.04 75,532
8 2022 1,716,000 2023 0 5,902,300 2024 $16.54 97,639
9 2023 0 2024 29,512 5,931,812 2025 $16.54 98,127


10 2024 0 2025 29,659 5,961,471 2026 $16.54 98,618
11 2025 0 2026 29,807 5,991,278 2027 $16.54 99,111
12 2026 0 2027 29,956 6,021,234 2028 $16.54 99,607
13 2027 0 2028 30,106 6,051,340 2029 $16.54 100,105
14 2028 0 2029 30,257 6,081,597 2030 $16.54 100,605
15 2029 0 2030 30,408 6,112,005 2031 $16.54 101,108
16 2030 0 2031 30,560 6,142,565 2032 $16.54 101,614
17 2031 0 2032 30,713 6,173,278 2033 $16.54 102,122
18 2032 0 2033 30,866 6,204,144 2034 $16.54 102,632
19 2033 0 2034 31,021 6,235,165 2035 $16.54 103,146
20 2034 0 2035 31,176 6,266,341 2036 $16.54 103,661
21 2035 0 2036 31,332 6,297,673 2037 $16.54 104,180
22 2036 0 2037 31,488 6,329,161 2038 $16.54 104,701
23 2037 0 2038 31,646 6,360,807 2039 $16.54 105,224


Totals 5,902,300 458,507 Future Value of Increment 1,763,609


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


- 3 Year Extension


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Industrial
September 29, 2015


20


No







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 
 


Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet (After Amendment) 


 


 
  


Type of District Base Value 14,841
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2015 Base Tax Rate $20.00
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 9/29/2030
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2036


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District


Construction 
Year Value Added Valuation Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


6 2020 3,191,400 2021 0 3,191,400 2022 $20.64 65,877
7 2021 994,900 2022 0 4,186,300 2023 $18.04 75,532
8 2022 1,716,000 2023 0 5,902,300 2024 $16.54 97,639
9 2023 29,266,800 2024 29,512 35,198,612 2025 $16.54 582,275


10 2024 0 2025 175,993 35,374,605 2026 $16.54 585,186
11 2025 0 2026 176,873 35,551,478 2027 $16.54 588,112
12 2026 0 2027 177,757 35,729,235 2028 $16.54 591,053
13 2027 0 2028 178,646 35,907,881 2029 $16.54 594,008
14 2028 0 2029 179,539 36,087,421 2030 $16.54 596,978
15 2029 0 2030 180,437 36,267,858 2031 $16.54 599,963
16 2030 0 2031 181,339 36,449,197 2032 $16.54 602,963
17 2031 0 2032 182,246 36,631,443 2033 $16.54 605,978
18 2032 0 2033 183,157 36,814,600 2034 $16.54 609,008
19 2033 0 2034 184,073 36,998,673 2035 $16.54 612,053
20 2034 0 2035 184,993 37,183,667 2036 $16.54 615,113


Totals 35,169,100 2,014,567 Future Value of Increment 7,421,738


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


20


No


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Industrial
September 29, 2015







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 


Table 3 – Cash Flow (Prior to Amendment) 


 


 


 


 
  


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Cash Flow Projection


Year
Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Total Year
2022 65,877 4,304 35,000 6,277 111,458 341,379 78,234 419,613 17,026 150 436,789 (325,331) 186,096 2,591,552 2022
2023 75,532 5,583 81,115 350,345 68,109 418,454 150,000 568,454 (487,339) (301,243) 2,241,207 2023
2024 97,639 (9,037) 88,602 363,793 56,737 420,530 420,530 (331,928) (633,171) 1,877,414 2024
2025 98,127 (18,995) 79,132 377,759 44,263 422,022 422,022 (342,890) (976,061) 1,499,655 2025
2026 98,618 (29,282) 69,336 391,207 31,528 422,735 422,735 (353,399) (1,329,460) 1,108,448 2026
2027 99,111 (39,884) 59,227 400,172 20,705 420,877 420,877 (361,650) (1,691,110) 708,276 2027
2028 99,607 (50,733) 48,874 349,655 12,451 362,106 362,106 (313,232) (2,004,342) 358,621 2028
2029 100,105 (60,130) 39,975 358,621 4,259 362,880 362,880 (322,905) (2,327,247) 0 2029
2030 100,605 (69,817) 30,788 0 0 0 0 30,788 (2,296,459) 0 2030
2031 101,108 (68,894) 32,214 0 0 0 0 32,214 (2,264,245) 0 2031
2032 101,614 (67,927) 33,687 0 0 0 0 33,687 (2,230,558) 0 2032
2033 102,122 (66,917) 35,205 0 0 0 0 35,205 (2,195,353) 0 2033
2034 102,632 (65,861) 36,771 0 0 0 0 36,771 (2,158,582) 0 2034
2035 103,146 (64,757) 38,389 0 0 0 0 38,389 (2,120,193) 0 2035
2036 103,661 (63,606) 40,055 0 0 0 0 40,055 (2,080,138) 0 2036
2037 104,180 (62,404) 41,776 0 0 0 0 41,776 (2,038,362) 0 2037
2038 104,701 (61,151) 43,550 0 0 0 0 43,550 (1,994,812) 0 2038
2039 105,224 (59,844) 45,380 0 0 0 0 45,380 (1,949,432) 0 2039
Total 1,763,609 (849,352) 35,000 6,277 955,534 2,932,931 316,286 3,249,217 150,000 17,026 150 3,416,393 Total


Notes: - Proposed 3 Year Extension Projected Year of Closure


Projected Revenues


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)
Other 


Revenue
Total 


Revenues
Developer 
Guarantee Cumulative


Principal 
Outstanding


Balances


Capital
Professional 


Services Admin.


Expenditures


Total 
Expenditures Annual







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 
 


Table 3 – Cash Flow (After Amendment) 


 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Cash Flow Projection


Year
Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Total Year
2022 65,877 4,304 35,000 6,277 111,458 341,379 78,235 419,613 17,026 150 436,789 (325,331) 186,096 2,591,552 2022
2023 75,532 5,583 81,115 350,345 68,109 418,454 150,000 75,000 643,454 (562,339) (376,243) 2,241,207 2023
2024 97,639 (11,287) 86,352 363,793 56,737 420,530 50,000 100 25,000 495,630 (409,278) (785,521) 1,877,414 2024
2025 582,275 (23,566) 180,000 738,709 377,759 44,263 422,022 180,000 100 25,000 627,122 111,587 (673,934) 1,499,655 2025
2026 585,186 (20,218) 564,968 416,207 40,628 456,835 100 25,000 481,935 83,033 (590,901) 1,108,448 2026
2027 588,112 (17,727) 570,385 425,172 26,405 451,577 100 25,000 476,677 93,708 (497,193) 708,276 2027
2028 591,053 (14,916) 576,137 374,655 17,151 391,806 100 25,000 416,906 159,231 (337,962) 358,621 2028
2029 594,008 (10,139) 583,869 383,621 7,959 391,580 25,000 416,580 167,289 (170,673) 0 2029
2030 596,978 (5,120) 591,858 25,000 2,700 27,700 25,000 52,700 539,158 368,485 0 2030
2031 599,963 11,055 611,018 25,000 1,700 26,700 25,000 51,700 559,318 927,803 0 2031
2032 602,963 27,834 630,797 30,000 600 30,600 25,000 55,600 575,197 1,503,000 0 2032
2033 605,978 45,090 651,068 0 0 0 0 651,068 2,154,068 0 2033
2034 609,008 64,622 673,630 0 0 0 0 673,630 2,827,698 0 2034
2035 612,053 84,831 696,884 0 0 0 0 696,884 3,524,582 0 2035
2036 615,113 105,737 720,850 0 0 0 0 720,850 4,245,432 0 2036
Total 7,421,738 246,083 180,000 35,000 6,277 7,889,098 3,112,931 344,487 3,457,417 330,000 67,026 500 300,150 4,155,093 Total


Notes: Projected Year of Closure


Annual Cumulative
Principal 


OutstandingCapital Other Admin.
Total 


Expenditures


Payments to 
the Town of 


Pleasant 
Springs


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)
Debt 


Proceeds
Other 


Revenue
Total 


Revenues
Developer 
Guarantee


Projected Revenues Expenditures Balances







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 


SECTION 10: 
Annexed Property 
 
A tax incremental district cannot include annexed territory unless at least three 
years have elapsed since the annexation, or certain other requirements are met. 
Since territory proposed to be added to the District has been annexed within 
the past three years, the City pledges to pay the Town of Pleasant Springs for 
each of the next five years an amount equal to the property taxes levied on that 
territory by the town at the time of the annexation. Such payments allow for 
inclusion of the annexed lands as a permitted exception under Wis. Stat. 
§66.1105(4)(gm)1.  


SECTION 11: 
Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b), the City estimates that less than 35% of 
the territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of 
the District’s maximum expenditure period.  


SECTION 12: 
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, 
Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances 


Zoning Ordinances 


The proposed Plan Amendment is in general conformance with the City’s 
current zoning ordinances. Individual properties may require rezoning at the 
time of development. Land within the District zoned industrial at the time of 
District creation will remain in a zoning classification suitable for industrial sites 
for the life of the District. 


Master (Comprehensive) Plan and Map 


The proposed Plan Amendment is in general conformance with the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan identifying the area as appropriate for industrial 
development.  


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 
 


Building Codes and Ordinances 


Development within the District will be required to conform to State Building 
Codes and will be subject to the City's permitting and inspection procedures. 
The proposed Plan Amendment conforms to all relevant State and local 
ordinances, plans, and codes. No changes to the existing regulations are 
proposed or needed. 


SECTION 13: 
Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of 
any Persons to be Displaced 


Should the continued implementation of this Plan require relocation of 
individuals or business operations, relocations will be handled in compliance 
with Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code ADM 92. 


SECTION 14: 
How Amendment of the Tax Incremental District 
Promotes the Orderly Development of the City 


This Plan Amendment promotes the orderly development of the City by 
creating new industrial sites, providing necessary public infrastructure 
improvements and providing appropriate financial incentives for private 
development projects. Through use of tax increment financing, the City can 
attract new investment that results in increased tax base. Development will 
occur in an orderly fashion in accordance with approved plans so that the 
Projects will be compatible with adjacent land uses. Development of new uses 
in the District will add to the tax base and will generate positive secondary 
impacts in the community such as increased employment opportunities. 
  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 34 
 


SECTION 15: 
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 


Non-project costs are public works projects which only partly benefit the 
District. Costs incurred that do not benefit the District may not be paid with tax 
increments. Examples of non-project costs are: 


• A public improvement made within the District that also benefits 
property outside the District. That portion of the total Project Costs 
allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-project 
cost.  


• A public improvement made outside the District that only partially 
benefits property within the District. That portion of the total Project 
Costs allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-
project cost. 


• Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of 
this Project Plan, the costs of which are paid fully or in part by impact 
fees, grants, special assessments, or revenues other than tax increments. 


 
The City will install a rail spur improvement within a half-mile of the District. The 
project will benefit the TID, as well as other areas of the City. The City estimates 
that the project will cost $900,000. Of this amount, $180,000 will benefit the 
District. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 35 
 


SECTION 16: 
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete 
and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f) 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 36 
 


SECTION 17: 
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the 
Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 


The following projection is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(i)4. 
 


  


Revenue Year County
Technical 
College Municipality School District Total Revenue Year


2022 8,852 2,469 26,283 28,273 65,877 2022
2023 10,149 2,831 30,135 32,417 75,532 2023
2024 13,120 3,660 38,955 41,905 97,639 2024
2025 78,240 21,824 232,309 249,902 582,275 2025
2026 78,631 21,934 233,470 251,152 585,186 2026
2027 79,024 22,043 234,637 252,407 588,112 2027
2028 79,419 22,153 235,811 253,670 591,053 2028
2029 79,816 22,264 236,990 254,938 594,008 2029
2030 80,215 22,376 238,175 256,213 596,978 2030
2031 80,616 22,487 239,366 257,494 599,963 2031
2032 81,019 22,600 240,562 258,781 602,963 2032
2033 81,425 22,713 241,765 260,075 605,978 2033
2034 81,832 22,826 242,974 261,376 609,008 2034
2035 82,241 22,941 244,189 262,683 612,053 2035
2036 82,652 23,055 245,410 263,996 615,113 2036


997,251 278,176 2,961,030 3,185,281 7,421,738


Notes:
The projection shown above is provided to meet the requirments of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(i)4.


Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction 
overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.





		JRB 1 R-xxx-2023 Approve amendment to project plan and boundaries - Tax Incremental District  No 6.pdf

		TID #6 Plan Commission Resolution - Signed.pdf

		Project Plan 8.22.23 (002).pdf

		Executive Summary

		Preliminary Map of Original District Boundary and Territory to be Added

		Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions Within the Territory to be Added

		Preliminary Identification of Parcels to be Added

		Equalized Value Test

		Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the District

		Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses Within the Territory to be Added

		Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

		Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred

		Annexed Property

		Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business

		Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances

		Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of any Persons to be Displaced

		How Amendment of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development of the City

		List of Estimated Non-Project Costs

		Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f)

		Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions












 


City of Stoughton of Wisconsin, TID 6   Joint Review Board Resolution Page 1 


JOINT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AMENDED 
PROJECT PLAN AND BOUNDARIES FOR 


TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6, 
CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 
 


WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton (the “City”) seeks to amend the Project Plan and boundaries for 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 (the “District”); and 


 
WHEREAS, Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4m)(a) requires that a Joint Review Board (the 


“JRB”) convene to consider such proposal; and 
 
WHEREAS, the JRB consists of one representative chosen by the School District; one 


representative chosen by the Technical College District; and one representative chosen by the County, all 
of whom have the power to levy taxes on property within the District; and one representative chosen by 
the City and one public member; and 


 
WHEREAS, the public member and JRB's chairperson were selected by a majority vote of the other 


JRB members before the public hearing required under Wisconsin Statutes Sections 66.1105 (4)(a) and (e) 
was held; and 


 
WHEREAS, all JRB members were appointed and the first JRB meeting was held within 14 days 


after the notice was published under Wisconsin Statutes Sections 66.1105 (4)(a) and (e); and 
 
WHEREAS, as required by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4m)(b)1. the JRB has reviewed the 


public record, planning documents, resolution passed by the Plan Commission, and the resolution passed 
by the City Council; and 


 
WHEREAS, the JRB has considered whether, and concluded that, the District meets the following 


criteria as required by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4m)(c): 
 
1. The development expected in the District would not occur without the use of tax increment 


financing. 
 
2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased employment, business and 


personal income and property value, are sufficient to compensate for the cost of the 
improvements. 


 
3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by the 


owners of property in the overlying taxing districts. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the JRB approves the resolution passed by the City 


Council approving an amendment to the Project Plan and boundaries of the District. 
 


BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that in the judgment of the JRB the development described in the 
Project Plan would not occur but for the amendment to the Project Plan and boundaries of the District, 







 


City of Stoughton of Wisconsin, TID 6   Joint Review Board Resolution Page 2 


that the economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased employment, business and personal 
income and property value, are sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements, and that the 
benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing districts. 


 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the JRB approves those Project Costs identified in the Project Plan 


that will be made for projects located outside of, but within a one-half mile radius of the District, pursuant 
to Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(2)(f)1.n. 
 
 
 
Passed and adopted this _____ day of     , 2023. 
 
 
Resolution introduced and adoption moved by JRB member:      
 
 
Motion for adoption seconded by JRB member:        
 
 
On roll call motion passed by a vote of _____ ayes to _____ nays 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
            
JRB Chairperson Signature                 Clerk Signature 








 


        
 
September 11, 2023 


 


PROJECT PLAN AMENDMENT 
 


 City of Stoughton, Wisconsin 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Territory Amendment – Business Park North 
 


 
 


Prepared by: 


Ehlers  


N21W23350 Ridgeview Parkway West, 


Suite 100 


Waukesha, WI 53188 


 


BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO. 
 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers   Page | 2 


KEY DATES 
Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: September 11, 2023 


Public Hearing Held: September 11, 2023 


Approval by Plan Commission: September 11, 2023 


Adoption by Common Council: September 26, 2023 


Approval by the Joint Review Board: October 16, 2023 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... 3 


Preliminary Map of Original District Boundary and Territory to be Added.......................... 6 


Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions Within the Territory to be Added ................ 8 


Preliminary Identification of Parcels to be Added .......................................................................... 11 


Equalized Value Test ................................................................................................................................... 12 


Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or 
Improvements Within the District ......................................................................................................... 13 


Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses Within the Territory to be Added .... 19 


Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs ...........................................................................................24 


Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated 
Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be 
Incurred ............................................................................................................................................................ 25 


Annexed Property ....................................................................................................................................... 32 


Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business ............................................................. 32 


Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City 
Ordinances ...................................................................................................................................................... 32 


Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of any Persons to be Displaced
 ............................................................................................................................................................................. 33 


How Amendment of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development 
of the City ....................................................................................................................................................... 33 


List of Estimated Non-Project Costs .................................................................................................. 34 


Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(f) ................................................................................................................................................... 35 


Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the 
Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions ........................................................36 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 
 


SECTION 1: 
Executive Summary 


DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 6 (“District”) was originally created as a 
35.823 - acre Industrial District on September 29, 2015. The District was created 
to: 


• Provide additional land in the City suitable for industrial and light 
industrial business development 


• Create approximately 80 – 100 new jobs. 


The District has not been amended previously 


Purpose of Amendment 
The purpose of this amendment, referred to hereafter as the Plan, the 
Amendment, or the Plan Amendment, is to: 


• Add territory to the District as permitted under Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(h)2. This is the first of four permitted territory amendments 
available to the District. The amendment adds 19.813 acres to the north 
of the existing District. This is the site of the new Emmi Roth 
headquarters.  


• Amend the categories, locations or costs of project costs to be made as 
permitted under Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(h)1. (“Project”). 


• Continue the growth of employment opportunities in City of 
Stoughton’s Business Park North. 


 Estimated Total Project Cost Expenditures 


The City anticipates making total expenditures of approximately $4,230,500 
(“Project Costs”) to undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). 
Project Costs include an estimated $3,500,000 in development incentives 
contemplated for a future phase of development. 


Incremental Valuation 
The City projects that new land and improvements value of approximately 
$29,266,800 will result from the Project. Creation of this additional value will 
be made possible by the Project Costs made within the District. A table 
detailing assumptions as to the development timing and associated values is 
included in the Economic Feasibility Study located within this Plan. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 
 


Expected Termination of District   
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study located within Section 9 of this Plan, 
the City anticipates that the District will generate sufficient tax increment to 
pay all Project Costs within its allowable 20 years. 


Summary of Findings 
As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the 
exhibits contained and referenced herein, the following findings are made: 


1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to 
occur as detailed in this Plan: 1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in 
the manner, at the values, or within the timeframe desired by the City. In 
reaching this determination, the City has considered: 


That “but for” the amendment of the District’s Project Plan, the economic 
development objectives of the District will not be achieved.  Based upon the 
cash flow of the District, prior to the amendment, the District is showing that 
it is underperforming and would close with a large deficit. However, with 
projected new value that would be created from the territory amendment, 
the District would recover and close successfully.   


2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased 
employment, business and personal income, and property value, are 
sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. In making this 
determination, the City has considered the following information: 


The expectation that the Project will employ additional workers once the 
Project is fully operational. 


That the Developer is likely to purchase goods and services from local 
suppliers in construction of the Project, and induced effects of employee 
households spending locally for goods and services from retailers, 
restaurants and service companies. 


3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to 
be paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a calculation of the share of 
projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in this 
Plan. However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax 
incremental financing, these tax increments would not be paid but for 
creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the benefits 
expected to be realized as set forth in this Plan outweigh the value of the 
tax increments to be invested in the Project.   







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 
 


4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District, as 
amended, is suitable for industrial sites as defined by Wis. Stat. § 66.1101 and 
has been zoned for industrial use. Any real property within the District that 
was found suitable for industrial sites and was zoned for industrial use at the 
time of creation of the District or at the time of this Plan Amendment will 
remain zoned for industrial use for the life of the District. 


5. Based on the foregoing finding, the District remains designated as an 
industrial district.  


6. That Project Costs relate directly to promoting industrial development in the 
District, consistent with the purpose for which the District is created.  


7. Improvements to be made in the District are likely to significantly enhance 
the value of substantially all of the other real property in the District.   


8. The equalized value of taxable property within the territory to be added to 
the District, plus the incremental value of all existing tax incremental districts 
within the City does not exceed 12% of the total equalized value of taxable 
property within the City.     


9. The Plan for the District is feasible and is in conformity with the Master Plan 
of the City.  


10. The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will 
be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum 
expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b).  


11. That for those parcels to be included within the District that were annexed 
by the City within the three-year period preceding adoption of this 
Resolution, the City pledges to pay the Town of Pleasant Springs an amount 
equal to the property taxes the town last levied on the territory for each of 
the next five years.  


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 
 


SECTION 2: 


Preliminary Map of Original District Boundary and 
Territory to be Added 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers   Page | 7 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 


SECTION 3: 


Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions Within the 
Territory to be Added 


Map Found on Following Page.







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 
 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 


SECTION 4: 
Preliminary Identification of Parcels to be Added 


 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Base Property Information


Comments


Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage


Annexed 
Post 


1/1/04?   
...Indicate 


date


Part of Existing 
TID?    …Indicate 


TID #


Land Imp Total


Equalized 
Value 
Ratio Land Imp Total


ROW Areas 1.800
061132491002 1800 WILLIAMS DRIVE EMMI ROTH USA INC 18.013 44,677.00 No 4,700 0 4,700 97.09% 4,841 0 4,841 Vacant farmland permitted for development Class 3


Total Acreage 19.813 4,700 0 4,700 4,841 0


The above values are as of January 1, 2022.   Actual base value certification of the territory will be based on January 1, 2023 assessed values. Estimated Base Value 4,841


Assessment Roll 
Classification?       


(Residential = Class 1, 
Commercial = Class 2, 


Manufacturing = Class 3, Ag = 
Class 4 , Undeveloped = Class 


5, Ag Forest = Class 5M, Forest 
= Class 6, Other = Class 7 & 


Exempt = X)


Property Information Assessment Information Equalized Value


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Amended Parcel Listing and Conditions


Property Condition


Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage Description


Original Project Plan
061132492402 1600 Williams Drive Marquis Star Holding, Inc. 10.114 Developed
061132492952 No address City of Stoughton 2.403 Stormpond
061132493652 521 Glacier Moraine Drive City of Stoughton 4.431 Vacant
061132498902 441 Glacier Moraine Drive GIP - Glacier Moraine, LLC 4.430 Developed
061132498652 431 Glacier Moraine Drive City of Stoughton 1.990 Vacant
061132498402 421 Glacier Moraine Drive American Beauty Investments, LLC 3.500 Developed
061132499252 1520 Progress Lane City of Stoughton 4.320 Stormpond


ROW Williams Drive City of Stoughton 4.635
Total Original Project Plan 35.823


Parcels Added
ROW Williams Drive City of Stoughton 1.800


61132491002 1800 Williams Drive Emmi Roth USA, Inc. 18.013 Under construction
Total Parcels Added 19.813


Total Acreage 55.636


Property Information







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 


SECTION 5: 
Equalized Value Test 


The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the 
equalized value of the taxable property proposed to be added to the District, 
plus the value increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not 
exceed 12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  


The equalized value of the increment of existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, plus the value of the territory proposed to be added to the District, 
totals $68,345,341. This value is less than the maximum of $188,135,244 in 
equalized value that is permitted for the City. 


  


District Creation Date 9/29/2015


Valuation Data
Currently Available


2023
Total EV (TID In) 1,787,763,800


12% Test 214,531,656


Increment of Existing TIDs
11,960,700


5,326,900
8,286,700


51,115,900
2,812,000
4,022,700


Total Existing Increment 83,524,900


Projected Base of Amended District 4,841


Total Value Subject to 12% Test 83,529,741


Compliance PASS


TID #9


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Valuation Test Compliance Calculation


TID #5
TID #6
TID #7
TID #8


TID #4







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 
 


SECTION 6: 
Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All 
Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the 
District 
Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary 
obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project 
Costs will be diminished by any income, special assessments or other revenues, 
including user fees or charges, other than tax increments, received or 
reasonably expected to be received in connection with the implementation of 
the Plan. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory outside the District, a 
proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this 
Plan are preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are 
subject to change after planning, design and construction is completed. 


With all Project Costs, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, 
materials, construction, restoring property to its original condition, apparatus 
necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, testing, 
environmental studies, permits, updating ordinances and plans, judgments or 
claims for damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. The map 
found in Section 7 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs 
found in Section 8 provide additional information as to the kind, number and 
location of potential Project Costs. 


The “Statement of Kind, Number and Location of Proposed Public Works and 
Other Projects” set forth in the original District Project Plan approved on 
September 29, 2015 is amended to add the following Project Costs that the City 
has made, expects to make, or may need to make, in conjunction with the 
implementation of the District’s Plan or this Plan Amendment. 


Property, Right-of-Way and Easement Acquisition 


Property Acquisition for Development 


To promote and facilitate development the City may acquire property within 
the District. The cost of property acquired, and any costs associated with the 
transaction, are eligible Project Costs. Following acquisition, other Project 
Costs within the categories detailed in this Section may be incurred to make 
the property suitable for development.  Any revenue received by the City from 
the sale of property acquired pursuant to the execution of this Plan will be used 
to reduce the total project costs of the District.  If total Project Costs incurred 
by the City to acquire property and make it suitable for development exceed 
the revenues or other consideration received from the sale or lease of that 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 
 


property, the net amount shall be considered “real property assembly costs” as 
defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.c., and subject to recovery as an eligible 
Project Cost. 


Acquisition of Rights-of-Way 


The City may need to acquire property to allow for installation of streets, 
driveways, sidewalks, utilities, stormwater management practices and other 
public infrastructure. Costs incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and 
acquire rights-of-way are eligible Project Costs. 


Acquisition of Easements 


The City may need to acquire temporary or permanent easements to allow for 
installation and maintenance of streets, driveways, sidewalks, utilities, 
stormwater management practices and other public infrastructure.  Costs 
incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and acquire easement rights are 
eligible Project Costs. 


Relocation Costs 


If relocation expenses are incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of 
property, those expenses are eligible Project Costs. These costs may include 
but are not limited to: preparation of a relocation plan; allocations of staff time; 
legal fees; publication of notices; obtaining appraisals; and payment of 
relocation benefits as required by Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code 
ADM 92. 


Site Preparation Activities 


Environmental Audits and Remediation 


If it becomes necessary to evaluate any land or improvement within the District, 
any cost incurred by the City related to environmental audits, testing, and 
remediation are eligible Project Costs. 


Demolition 


To make sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs related to 
demolition and removal of structures or other land improvements, to include 
abandonment of wells or other existing utility services. 


Site Grading 


Land within the District may require grading to make it suitable for 
development, to provide access, and to control stormwater runoff.  The City 
may need to remove and dispose of excess material, or bring in fill material to 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 
 


provide for proper site elevations. Expenses incurred by the City for site 
grading are eligible Project Costs. 


Utilities 


Sanitary Sewer System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure within the District.  Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: collection mains; manholes and cleanouts; service laterals; force 
mains; interceptor sewers; pumping stations; lift stations; wastewater treatment 
facilities; and all related appurtenances. To the extent sanitary sewer projects 
undertaken within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the 
District, the City will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those 
costs corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure located outside 
of the District. That portion of the costs of sanitary sewer system projects 
undertaken outside the District which are necessitated by the implementation 
of the Project Plan are eligible Project Costs.  


Water System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand water system infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion 
of: distribution mains; manholes and valves; hydrants; service laterals; pumping 
stations; wells; water treatment facilities; storage tanks and reservoirs; and all 
related appurtenances. To the extent water system projects undertaken within 
the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City will 
make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs corresponding 
to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and necessitated by the 
implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project Costs.  Implementation 
of the Project Plan may also require that the City construct, alter, rebuild or 
expand water system infrastructure located outside of the District.  That 
portion of the costs of water system projects undertaken outside the District 
which are necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible 
Project Costs. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 
 


Stormwater Management System Improvements 


Development within the District will cause stormwater runoff. To manage this 
stormwater runoff, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild or expand 
stormwater management infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: stormwater collection mains; inlets, manholes and valves; service 
laterals; ditches; culvert pipes; box culverts; bridges; stabilization of stream and 
river banks; and infiltration, filtration and detention Best Management Practices 
(BMP’s). To the extent stormwater management system projects undertaken 
within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City 
will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit.  Those costs 
corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs.  Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand stormwater management infrastructure 
located outside of the District. That portion of the costs of stormwater 
management system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 


Electric Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade electric services. Relocation may require abandonment and 
removal of existing poles or towers, installation of new poles or towers, or 
burying of overhead electric lines.  Costs incurred by the City to undertake this 
work are eligible Project Costs. 


Gas Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade gas mains and services. Costs incurred by the City to 
undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


Communications Infrastructure 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade infrastructure required for voice and data communications, 
including, but not limited to:  telephone lines, cable lines and fiber optic cable. 
Costs incurred by the City to undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 
 


Streets and Streetscape 


Street Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct or reconstruct 
streets, highways, alleys, access drives and parking areas. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to: excavation; removal or placement of fill;  
construction of road base; asphalt or concrete paving or repaving;  installation 
of curb and gutter; installation of sidewalks and bicycle lanes; installation of 
culverts, box culverts and bridges; rail crossings and signals; utility relocation, 
to include burying overhead utility lines; street lighting; installation of traffic 
control signage and traffic signals; pavement marking; right-of-way restoration; 
installation of retaining walls; and installation of fences, berms, and landscaping. 


Streetscaping and Landscaping 


To attract development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, the City may 
install amenities to enhance development sites, rights-of-way and other public 
spaces. These amenities include but are not limited to: landscaping; lighting of 
streets, sidewalks, parking areas and public areas; installation of planters, 
benches, clocks, tree rings, trash receptacles and similar items; and installation 
of brick or other decorative walks, terraces and street crossings. These and any 
other similar amenities installed by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Community Development 


Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  


The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or 
developers of land located within the District for sharing costs to encourage 
the desired kind of improvements and assure tax base is generated sufficient 
to recover Project Costs. No cash grants will be provided until the City executes 
a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant.  Any payments of 
cash grants made by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Miscellaneous 


Rail Spur 


To allow for development, the City may incur costs for installation of a rail spur 
or other railway improvements to serve development sites located within the 
District. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 
 


Property Tax Payments to Town 


Property tax payments due to the Town of Pleasant Springs under Wis. Stat. 
§66.1105(4)(gm)1. because of the inclusion of lands annexed after January 1, 
2004 within the boundaries of the District are an eligible Project Cost. 


Projects Outside the Tax Increment District 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.n, the City may undertake projects within 
territory located within one-half mile of the boundary of the District provided 
that: 1) the project area is located within the City’s corporate boundaries; and 
2) the projects are approved by the Joint Review Board. The cost of projects 
completed outside the District pursuant to this section are eligible project costs 
and may include any project cost that would otherwise be eligible if undertaken 
within the District. The City intends to make the following project cost 
expenditures outside the District: 


The City will install a rail spur improvement within a half-mile of the District. The 
project will benefit the TID, as well as other areas of the City. The City estimates 
that the project will cost $900,000. Of this amount, $180,000 will benefit the 
District. 


Professional Service and Organizational Costs 


The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation 
to the creation, administration and termination of the District, and the 
undertaking of the projects contained within this Plan, are eligible Project Costs. 
Professional services include but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal; audit; financial; and the costs of 
informing the public with respect to the creation of the District and the 
implementation of the Plan. 


Administrative Costs 


The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable 
allocations of administrative costs, including, but not limited to, employee 
salaries. Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the time spent by City 
employees relating to the implementation of the Plan. 


Financing Costs 


Interest expense, debt issuance expenses, redemption premiums, and any other 
fees and costs incurred in conjunction with obtaining financing for projects 
undertaken under this Plan are eligible Project Costs. 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 
 


SECTION 7: 
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses Within 
the Territory to be Added 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 
 


  







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 


SECTION 8: 
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs 


The following list identifies the Project Costs that the City has made, expects 
to make, or may need to make in conjunction with the implementation of the 
District’s Plan or this Plan Amendment. All projects identified and related costs 
reflect the best estimates available as of the date of preparation of this Plan 
Amendment. All costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. 
Certain Project Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs 
not currently identified may need to be made. (Section 6 details the general 
categories of eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or the types 
of Project Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This 
Plan is not meant to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific 
Project Costs, but a framework within which to manage Project Costs. 


 


 
 


  


Project 1/2 Mile Percentage TID Non TID
Year Projects in 1/2 Mile Amount Costs


Project ID Project Name/Type See Note 1


1 Development Grant TBD No 0% 3,500,000
2 Business Park Rail Spur Improvements 2023 - 2025 Yes 100% 180,000 720,000
3 Business Park Master Planning 2024 No NA 50,000
4 TID Administration 2024 - 2034 No NA 250,000
5 TID Planning, Creation & Amendment 2022 - 2023 No NA 50,000
6 Payment to Town of Pleasant Springs 2023 - 2028 No NA 500
7 Workforce Housing Initiatives TBD No NA 200,000


Total Projects 4,230,500 720,000


Notes:
Note 1 Project costs are estimates and are subject to modification


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Estimated Project List







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 
 


SECTION 9: 
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods 
of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When 
Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred 


This Section includes an updated forecast of the valuation increases expected 
within the District, the associated tax increment collections, a summary of how 
remaining Project Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow 
demonstrating that the District remains economically feasible. 


Key Assumptions 


The Project Costs the City plans to make are expected to create $35,169,100 
million in incremental value by 2024. Estimated valuations and timing for 
construction of the Project are included in Table 1. Assuming the City’s current 
equalized TID Interim tax rate of $16.54 per thousand of equalized value, and 
0.5% economic appreciation, the Project would generate $7,421,738 in 
incremental tax revenue over the 20-year term of the District as shown in Table 
2. 


Financing and Implementation 
Implementation of the Plan will require that a rail spur will be constructed that 
will benefit the District.  The City will finance the cost of the construction 
through the issuance of tax-exempt General Obligation Notes or Bonds with 
debt service to be paid from the tax increment generated by the Project.  Cost 
of issuance will be paid from the debt proceeds. 


Development incentives will be made on a “pay as you go” basis from tax 
increment generated from the Project. The City’s obligation to make payments 
is solely limited to the available tax increment, and the City’s debt service for 
the construction projects will enjoy priority of payment on an annual basis.  To 
the extent incremental revenues are less than projected, the full amount of the 
development incentive may not ultimately be paid. 


Based on the Project Cost expenditures as included within the cash flow exhibit 
(Table 3), the District is projected to accumulate sufficient funds by the year 
2030 to pay off all Project cost liabilities and obligations. The projected closure 
is based on the various assumptions noted in this Plan and will vary dependent 
on actual Project Costs incurred and the actual amount of tax increments 
collected. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 
 


Table 1 – Development Assumptions (Prior to Amendment) 


 


 
  


Actual
Emmi Roth 


Phase I
Annual Total


6 2020 3,191,400 3,191,400 2020 6
7 2021 994,900 994,900 2021 7
8 2022 1,716,000 1,716,000 2022 8
9 2023 0 2023 9


10 2024 0 2024 10
11 2025 0 2025 11
12 2026 0 2026 12
13 2027 0 2027 13
14 2028 0 2028 14
15 2029 0 2029 15
16 2030 0 2030 16
17 2031 0 2031 17
18 2032 0 2032 18
19 2033 0 2033 19
20 2034 0 2034 20
21 2035 0 2035 21
22 2036 0 2036 22
23 2037 0 2037 23


Totals 5,902,300 0 5,902,300


Notes:


Construction Year Construction Year


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Development Assumptions







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 27 
 


Table 1 – Development Assumptions (After Amendment) 


 


 


 


  


Actual
Emmi Roth 


Phase I
Annual Total


6 2020 3,191,400 3,191,400 2020 6
7 2021 994,900 994,900 2021 7
8 2022 1,716,000 1,716,000 2022 8
9 2023 29,266,800 29,266,800 2023 9


10 2024 0 2024 10
11 2025 0 2025 11
12 2026 0 2026 12
13 2027 0 2027 13
14 2028 0 2028 14
15 2029 0 2029 15
16 2030 0 2030 16
17 2031 0 2031 17
18 2032 0 2032 18
19 2033 0 2033 19
20 2034 0 2034 20


Totals 5,902,300 29,266,800 35,169,100


Notes:


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Development Assumptions


Construction Year Construction Year







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 
 


Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet (Prior to Amendment) 


 


 


 


  


Type of District Base Value 14,841
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2015 Base Tax Rate $20.00
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 9/29/2030
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2036


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District


Construction 
Year Value Added Valuation Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


6 2020 3,191,400 2021 0 3,191,400 2022 $20.64 65,877
7 2021 994,900 2022 0 4,186,300 2023 $18.04 75,532
8 2022 1,716,000 2023 0 5,902,300 2024 $16.54 97,639
9 2023 0 2024 29,512 5,931,812 2025 $16.54 98,127


10 2024 0 2025 29,659 5,961,471 2026 $16.54 98,618
11 2025 0 2026 29,807 5,991,278 2027 $16.54 99,111
12 2026 0 2027 29,956 6,021,234 2028 $16.54 99,607
13 2027 0 2028 30,106 6,051,340 2029 $16.54 100,105
14 2028 0 2029 30,257 6,081,597 2030 $16.54 100,605
15 2029 0 2030 30,408 6,112,005 2031 $16.54 101,108
16 2030 0 2031 30,560 6,142,565 2032 $16.54 101,614
17 2031 0 2032 30,713 6,173,278 2033 $16.54 102,122
18 2032 0 2033 30,866 6,204,144 2034 $16.54 102,632
19 2033 0 2034 31,021 6,235,165 2035 $16.54 103,146
20 2034 0 2035 31,176 6,266,341 2036 $16.54 103,661
21 2035 0 2036 31,332 6,297,673 2037 $16.54 104,180
22 2036 0 2037 31,488 6,329,161 2038 $16.54 104,701
23 2037 0 2038 31,646 6,360,807 2039 $16.54 105,224


Totals 5,902,300 458,507 Future Value of Increment 1,763,609


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


- 3 Year Extension


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Industrial
September 29, 2015


20


No







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 
 


Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet (After Amendment) 


 


 
  


Type of District Base Value 14,841
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2015 Base Tax Rate $20.00
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 9/29/2030
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2036


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District


Construction 
Year Value Added Valuation Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


6 2020 3,191,400 2021 0 3,191,400 2022 $20.64 65,877
7 2021 994,900 2022 0 4,186,300 2023 $18.04 75,532
8 2022 1,716,000 2023 0 5,902,300 2024 $16.54 97,639
9 2023 29,266,800 2024 29,512 35,198,612 2025 $16.54 582,275


10 2024 0 2025 175,993 35,374,605 2026 $16.54 585,186
11 2025 0 2026 176,873 35,551,478 2027 $16.54 588,112
12 2026 0 2027 177,757 35,729,235 2028 $16.54 591,053
13 2027 0 2028 178,646 35,907,881 2029 $16.54 594,008
14 2028 0 2029 179,539 36,087,421 2030 $16.54 596,978
15 2029 0 2030 180,437 36,267,858 2031 $16.54 599,963
16 2030 0 2031 181,339 36,449,197 2032 $16.54 602,963
17 2031 0 2032 182,246 36,631,443 2033 $16.54 605,978
18 2032 0 2033 183,157 36,814,600 2034 $16.54 609,008
19 2033 0 2034 184,073 36,998,673 2035 $16.54 612,053
20 2034 0 2035 184,993 37,183,667 2036 $16.54 615,113


Totals 35,169,100 2,014,567 Future Value of Increment 7,421,738


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


20


No


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Industrial
September 29, 2015







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 


Table 3 – Cash Flow (Prior to Amendment) 


 


 


 


 
  


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Cash Flow Projection


Year
Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Total Year
2022 65,877 4,304 35,000 6,277 111,458 341,379 78,234 419,613 17,026 150 436,789 (325,331) 186,096 2,591,552 2022
2023 75,532 5,583 81,115 350,345 68,109 418,454 150,000 568,454 (487,339) (301,243) 2,241,207 2023
2024 97,639 (9,037) 88,602 363,793 56,737 420,530 420,530 (331,928) (633,171) 1,877,414 2024
2025 98,127 (18,995) 79,132 377,759 44,263 422,022 422,022 (342,890) (976,061) 1,499,655 2025
2026 98,618 (29,282) 69,336 391,207 31,528 422,735 422,735 (353,399) (1,329,460) 1,108,448 2026
2027 99,111 (39,884) 59,227 400,172 20,705 420,877 420,877 (361,650) (1,691,110) 708,276 2027
2028 99,607 (50,733) 48,874 349,655 12,451 362,106 362,106 (313,232) (2,004,342) 358,621 2028
2029 100,105 (60,130) 39,975 358,621 4,259 362,880 362,880 (322,905) (2,327,247) 0 2029
2030 100,605 (69,817) 30,788 0 0 0 0 30,788 (2,296,459) 0 2030
2031 101,108 (68,894) 32,214 0 0 0 0 32,214 (2,264,245) 0 2031
2032 101,614 (67,927) 33,687 0 0 0 0 33,687 (2,230,558) 0 2032
2033 102,122 (66,917) 35,205 0 0 0 0 35,205 (2,195,353) 0 2033
2034 102,632 (65,861) 36,771 0 0 0 0 36,771 (2,158,582) 0 2034
2035 103,146 (64,757) 38,389 0 0 0 0 38,389 (2,120,193) 0 2035
2036 103,661 (63,606) 40,055 0 0 0 0 40,055 (2,080,138) 0 2036
2037 104,180 (62,404) 41,776 0 0 0 0 41,776 (2,038,362) 0 2037
2038 104,701 (61,151) 43,550 0 0 0 0 43,550 (1,994,812) 0 2038
2039 105,224 (59,844) 45,380 0 0 0 0 45,380 (1,949,432) 0 2039
Total 1,763,609 (849,352) 35,000 6,277 955,534 2,932,931 316,286 3,249,217 150,000 17,026 150 3,416,393 Total


Notes: - Proposed 3 Year Extension Projected Year of Closure


Projected Revenues


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)
Other 


Revenue
Total 


Revenues
Developer 
Guarantee Cumulative


Principal 
Outstanding


Balances


Capital
Professional 


Services Admin.


Expenditures


Total 
Expenditures Annual







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 
 


Table 3 – Cash Flow (After Amendment) 


 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6
Cash Flow Projection


Year
Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Total Year
2022 65,877 4,304 35,000 6,277 111,458 341,379 78,235 419,613 17,026 150 436,789 (325,331) 186,096 2,591,552 2022
2023 75,532 5,583 81,115 350,345 68,109 418,454 150,000 75,000 643,454 (562,339) (376,243) 2,241,207 2023
2024 97,639 (11,287) 86,352 363,793 56,737 420,530 50,000 100 25,000 495,630 (409,278) (785,521) 1,877,414 2024
2025 582,275 (23,566) 180,000 738,709 377,759 44,263 422,022 180,000 100 25,000 627,122 111,587 (673,934) 1,499,655 2025
2026 585,186 (20,218) 564,968 416,207 40,628 456,835 100 25,000 481,935 83,033 (590,901) 1,108,448 2026
2027 588,112 (17,727) 570,385 425,172 26,405 451,577 100 25,000 476,677 93,708 (497,193) 708,276 2027
2028 591,053 (14,916) 576,137 374,655 17,151 391,806 100 25,000 416,906 159,231 (337,962) 358,621 2028
2029 594,008 (10,139) 583,869 383,621 7,959 391,580 25,000 416,580 167,289 (170,673) 0 2029
2030 596,978 (5,120) 591,858 25,000 2,700 27,700 25,000 52,700 539,158 368,485 0 2030
2031 599,963 11,055 611,018 25,000 1,700 26,700 25,000 51,700 559,318 927,803 0 2031
2032 602,963 27,834 630,797 30,000 600 30,600 25,000 55,600 575,197 1,503,000 0 2032
2033 605,978 45,090 651,068 0 0 0 0 651,068 2,154,068 0 2033
2034 609,008 64,622 673,630 0 0 0 0 673,630 2,827,698 0 2034
2035 612,053 84,831 696,884 0 0 0 0 696,884 3,524,582 0 2035
2036 615,113 105,737 720,850 0 0 0 0 720,850 4,245,432 0 2036
Total 7,421,738 246,083 180,000 35,000 6,277 7,889,098 3,112,931 344,487 3,457,417 330,000 67,026 500 300,150 4,155,093 Total


Notes: Projected Year of Closure


Annual Cumulative
Principal 


OutstandingCapital Other Admin.
Total 


Expenditures


Payments to 
the Town of 


Pleasant 
Springs


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)
Debt 


Proceeds
Other 


Revenue
Total 


Revenues
Developer 
Guarantee


Projected Revenues Expenditures Balances







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 


SECTION 10: 
Annexed Property 
 
A tax incremental district cannot include annexed territory unless at least three 
years have elapsed since the annexation, or certain other requirements are met. 
Since territory proposed to be added to the District has been annexed within 
the past three years, the City pledges to pay the Town of Pleasant Springs for 
each of the next five years an amount equal to the property taxes levied on that 
territory by the town at the time of the annexation. Such payments allow for 
inclusion of the annexed lands as a permitted exception under Wis. Stat. 
§66.1105(4)(gm)1.  


SECTION 11: 
Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b), the City estimates that less than 35% of 
the territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of 
the District’s maximum expenditure period.  


SECTION 12: 
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, 
Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances 


Zoning Ordinances 


The proposed Plan Amendment is in general conformance with the City’s 
current zoning ordinances. Individual properties may require rezoning at the 
time of development. Land within the District zoned industrial at the time of 
District creation will remain in a zoning classification suitable for industrial sites 
for the life of the District. 


Master (Comprehensive) Plan and Map 


The proposed Plan Amendment is in general conformance with the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan identifying the area as appropriate for industrial 
development.  


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 
 


Building Codes and Ordinances 


Development within the District will be required to conform to State Building 
Codes and will be subject to the City's permitting and inspection procedures. 
The proposed Plan Amendment conforms to all relevant State and local 
ordinances, plans, and codes. No changes to the existing regulations are 
proposed or needed. 


SECTION 13: 
Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of 
any Persons to be Displaced 


Should the continued implementation of this Plan require relocation of 
individuals or business operations, relocations will be handled in compliance 
with Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code ADM 92. 


SECTION 14: 
How Amendment of the Tax Incremental District 
Promotes the Orderly Development of the City 


This Plan Amendment promotes the orderly development of the City by 
creating new industrial sites, providing necessary public infrastructure 
improvements and providing appropriate financial incentives for private 
development projects. Through use of tax increment financing, the City can 
attract new investment that results in increased tax base. Development will 
occur in an orderly fashion in accordance with approved plans so that the 
Projects will be compatible with adjacent land uses. Development of new uses 
in the District will add to the tax base and will generate positive secondary 
impacts in the community such as increased employment opportunities. 
  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 34 
 


SECTION 15: 
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 


Non-project costs are public works projects which only partly benefit the 
District. Costs incurred that do not benefit the District may not be paid with tax 
increments. Examples of non-project costs are: 


• A public improvement made within the District that also benefits 
property outside the District. That portion of the total Project Costs 
allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-project 
cost.  


• A public improvement made outside the District that only partially 
benefits property within the District. That portion of the total Project 
Costs allocable to properties outside of the District would be a non-
project cost. 


• Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of 
this Project Plan, the costs of which are paid fully or in part by impact 
fees, grants, special assessments, or revenues other than tax increments. 


 
The City will install a rail spur improvement within a half-mile of the District. The 
project will benefit the TID, as well as other areas of the City. The City estimates 
that the project will cost $900,000. Of this amount, $180,000 will benefit the 
District. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 35 
 


SECTION 16: 
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete 
and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f) 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 36 
 


SECTION 17: 
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the 
Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 


The following projection is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(i)4. 
 


  


Revenue Year County
Technical 
College Municipality School District Total Revenue Year


2022 8,852 2,469 26,283 28,273 65,877 2022
2023 10,149 2,831 30,135 32,417 75,532 2023
2024 13,120 3,660 38,955 41,905 97,639 2024
2025 78,240 21,824 232,309 249,902 582,275 2025
2026 78,631 21,934 233,470 251,152 585,186 2026
2027 79,024 22,043 234,637 252,407 588,112 2027
2028 79,419 22,153 235,811 253,670 591,053 2028
2029 79,816 22,264 236,990 254,938 594,008 2029
2030 80,215 22,376 238,175 256,213 596,978 2030
2031 80,616 22,487 239,366 257,494 599,963 2031
2032 81,019 22,600 240,562 258,781 602,963 2032
2033 81,425 22,713 241,765 260,075 605,978 2033
2034 81,832 22,826 242,974 261,376 609,008 2034
2035 82,241 22,941 244,189 262,683 612,053 2035
2036 82,652 23,055 245,410 263,996 615,113 2036


997,251 278,176 2,961,030 3,185,281 7,421,738


Notes:
The projection shown above is provided to meet the requirments of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(i)4.


Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction 
overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.





		Executive Summary

		Preliminary Map of Original District Boundary and Territory to be Added

		Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions Within the Territory to be Added

		Preliminary Identification of Parcels to be Added

		Equalized Value Test

		Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the District

		Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses Within the Territory to be Added

		Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

		Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred

		Annexed Property

		Estimate of Property to be Devoted to Retail Business

		Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances

		Statement of the Proposed Method for the Relocation of any Persons to be Displaced

		How Amendment of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development of the City

		List of Estimated Non-Project Costs

		Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f)

		Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions



